### Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

6-26-2009

## Apple's Mobile Catering, LLC v. O'Dell Appellant's Brief Dckt. 36128

Issues Presented on Appeal
Points and Authorities8
Argument:
I. DID THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY GRANT SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO THE RESPONDENT, WHEN IN FACT FROM THE FACE OF THE DECISION, THE COURT DENIED THE RESPONDENT'S THEORY OF AN ACCORD AND
SATISFACTION, APPEARING TO GRANT APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT?9
SATISFACTION, APPEARING TO GRANT APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY

#### TABLE OF CASES AND AUTHORITIES

IDAHO COURT RULES
Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 56(c)9,10,13
IDAHO CODE
Idaho Code Section 28-2-201. STATUTE OF FRAUDS8,10, 12,16,17
Idaho Code Section 28-2-202 FINAL WRITTEN EXPRESSION-PAROL OR EVIDENCE8, 13,14, 15, 16
Idaho Code Section 28-2-209 . MODIFICATION, RESCISSION, AND WAIVER8,12,16,17
CASES
<u>Aid Ins. Co. (Mut. Aid Ins. Co. V. Armstrong</u> ), 119 Idaho 897, 811, P.2d 507 (Ct. App. 1991)
<u>Anderson v. City of Pocatello</u> , 112 Idaho 176, 731 P.2d 171 (1986)9
Boesiger v. Frier, 85 Idaho 551, 381 P.2d 802 (1963)14
Bonz v. Sudweeks, 119 Idaho 539, 808 P.2d 876 (1991)12
<u>Breeden v. Edmunson</u> , 689 P.2d 211, 107 Idaho 319,(Ct. App. 1984)16,19
<u>Bunker Hill Co. v. United Steelworkers</u> , 107 Idaho 155, 686 P.2d 835 (1984)12
<u>Loomis v. City of Hailey</u> , 119 Idaho 434,807 P.2d 1272 (1991)12,15
<u>Mitchell v. Siquieros</u> , 99 Idaho 396, 582 P.2d 1074 (1978)9

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case gravitates around an undisputed Contract wherein Apple's agreed to buy O'Dell's catering equipment in July, 2001, with the purchase price of \$340,000.00 secured by the equipment. See Verified Complaint, Clerk's Record on Appeal, [CRA], CRA p.1 and p. 65, section 9, Plaintiff's Affidavit of David Orr; CRA p.224, District Court's Memorandum Decision]. Then, claiming a "Modification" to the original agreement occurred, Respondent's Complaint purports that the acceptance and cashing of check no. 469 marked "final payment" on June 10, 2003, perfected an Accord And Satisfaction, CRA Verified Complaint 14, reducing the purchase price some \$165,000.00, at Respondent's verified Complaint at CRA 3, line 11.

However, the facts in this case developed to show that
Respondent failed to provide any competent evidence that the
Appellant actually received the check, necessary for notice of an
Accord and Satisfaction; instead, it is clear itself from the
examination of the check, that the check itself was presented at
the Respondent's bank in Ketchum, Id, for a direct bank transfer.
See Affidavit of Appellant Thomas O'Dell, p. 180, CRA, denying
receipt of the check. There in fact was no Accord and
Satisfaction, as Appellant had no proper notice of the check
served nor delivered upon him.

See also Appellant's Exhibit A, p. 41, showing on the back of the check a stamp from the Ketchum Branch, Ketchum Idaho, and scrawlings, yet to be identified as to signator "For Deposit APPLE'S MOBILE CATERING, LLC v. THOMAS O'DELL-APPELLANT'S OPENING

BRIEF

Only" showing patently from the back of the check that the check was not mailed to Appellant, but that an attempt was made at an Accord through the writing on the face. See also a document at p. 155, CRA, entitled Plaintiff's/[Respondent's] Exhibit C, purporting to be mailed to Mr. Thomas O'Dell, Arco, Idaho", no zip code.

To support it's decision the District court relied exclusively upon the affidavit of Respondent David Orr for Apple's Mobile Catering, "that he had problems with the equipment, and to resolve the issue, he and Mr O'Dell made an oral modification to their original agreement". Emphasis added. CRA Memorandum Decision, p. 225. See affidavit of Tom O'Dell, p. 1, flatly denying that he had ever seen nor personally received check No. 469 from David W. Orr, listing a purported "Final Payment" designation for that \$15,000.00 check, CRA, 180, and that he never actually saw the check until sometime in 2006. This denial should have created a genuine issue of material fact as to the existence of any "oral Modification" so that O'Dell's sales price would be reduced by \$165,000.00. Instead, the Court summarily, but improperly, finds the Modification through some Course of Performance.

#### COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

The Respondent originally filed this Case in Bingham County and asserted some elements of an Accord and Satisfaction as his main theory he had satisfied Apple's Mobile Catering's contractual obligations to Appellant, but a change of Venue Stipulation properly removed the case to Custer County, where the Appellant has always lived and done business. It is noteworthy that the assertion of an Accord and Satisfaction by Respondent procedurally places a Defense of an Accord and Satisfaction as a method of discharging contract or cause of action defense as the gravamen of their case in chief. This position anticipates Appellant's assertion of the contract and the Statute of Frauds requirement for a writing, placing it squarely in Respondent's case in chief, and subjecting his case to those defenses affirmatively.

The Appellant's Answer of January 4<sup>th</sup>, 2008, was followed by a period of delays caused by Appellant's two Bankruptcy filings and the Automatic Stay Granted thereon, the first of January 30<sup>th</sup>, 2008 [when Appellant filed his first Bankruptcy Petition through the office of this attorney, and the second pro se filing by Mr. O'Dell on June 23<sup>rd</sup>, 2008, after dismissal of the first case. See p. 166, Appellant's Objection To Notice of Admissions Deemed Admitted, line 4.]

The Appellant, not aware of the pro se Bankruptcy filing of his client, filed his first Motion and Memorandum for Summary

Judgment on June 30, 2008, and the Court got the case back on

APPLE'S MOBILE CATERING, LLC v. THOMAS O'DELL-APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

track following the August 20, 2008 dismissal of the second Bankruptcy, and called up the case for calendaring On August 27<sup>th</sup>, 2008, with the court Ordering the parties to complete filing Summary Judgment by October 15<sup>th</sup>, 2008.

The Respondent filed its motion for Summary Judgment on September 12, 2008, and Appellant stood upon his June 30<sup>th</sup>, 2008, filing of Summary Judgment. Respondent filed it's reply Memorandum is Support of It's Motion for Summary Judgment on October 9<sup>th</sup>, 2008, CRA 169-173, and Appellant Filed it's Responsive Memorandum on October 28, 2008. On November 18<sup>th</sup>, 2008 court issued its Decision Re: Pending Summary Judgment Motions. On December 2<sup>nd</sup>, 2008, Appellant filed it's Motion to Set Aside the Court's Ruling On Summary Judgment, and on December 16, 2008, the Court filed it's Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Consider, from which this Notice of Appeal issued on January 28, 2009.

#### ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY GRANT SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO THE PLAINTIFF, WHEN IN FACT FROM THE FACE OF THE DECISION, THE COURT DENIED THE PLAINTIFF'S THEORY OF AN ACCORD AND SATISFACTION, APPEARING TO GRANT APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT.
- II. DO SUFFICIENT FACTS EXIST FOR WHICH A REASONABLE JURY COULD FIND BY A PREPONDERANCE OF THE EVIDENCE, THAT THERE WAS A COURSE OF PERFORMANCE EXCEPTION TO THE STATUTE OF FRAUDS?

#### POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

I.

A Motion for Summary Judgment may be granted "if the pleadings, depositions, and admissions on file together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law."

Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 56 ( c ).

II.

Idaho Code Section 28-2-201. FORMAL REQUIREMENTS- STATUTE OF FRAUDS. Except as otherwise provided in this section a contract for the sale of goods for the price of \$500.00 or more is not enforceable by way of action or defense unless there is some writing sufficient to indicate that a contract for sale has been made between the parties and signed by the party against whom enforcement is sought or by his authorized agent or broker.

III.

Idaho Code Section 28-2-202. FINAL WRITTEN EXPRESSION.-PAROL OR EXTRINSIC EVIDENCE. Terms with respect to which the
confirmatory memoranda of the parties agree or which are
otherwise set forth in writing intended by the parties as a final
expression of their agreement with respect to such terms as are
included therein may not be contradicted by evidence of any prior
agreement or of a contemporaneous oral agreement but may be
explained or supplemented

- (a) By course of performance, course of dealing, or usage of trade (section 28-1-303); and
- (b) By evidence of additional terms, unless the court finds the writing to have been intended also as a complete and exclusive statement of the terms of the agreement.

IV.

Idaho Code, Section 28-2-209. MODIFICATION, RESCISSION, AND WAIVER. (2) A signed agreement which excludes modification or rescission except by a signed writing, cannot be otherwise modified or rescinded, but except as between merchants, such a requirement on a form supplied by the merchant must be signed by the other party. (3) The requirements of the Statute of Frauds section of this chapter (section 28-2-201) must be satisfied if the contract as modified is within it's provisions.

APPLE'S MOBILE CATERING, LLC v. THOMAS O'DELL-APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF 8

#### ARGUMENT

I.

I. DID THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY GRANT SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO THE RESPONDENT, WHEN IN FACT FROM THE FACE OF THE DECISION, THE COURT DENIED THE PLAINTIFF'S THEORY OF AN ACCORD AND SATISFACTION, APPEARING TO GRANT APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT?.

Pursuant to Rule 56 ( c ) of the Idaho Rules of Civil

Procedure, a Motion for Summary Judgment may be granted "if the pleadings, depositions, and admissions on file together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law."

The party opposing the motion for summary judgment has the burden of presenting sufficient evidence to establish whether a triable issue of fact exists; however, the Court must construe all facts in favor of the party opposing the motion, together with all reasonable inferences derived from the evidence.

Anderson v. City of Pocatello, 112 Idaho 176, 731 P.2d 171 (1986); Bunker Hill Co. v. United Steelworkers, 107 Idaho 155, 686 P.2d 835 (1984); Mitchell v. Siquieros, 99 Idaho 396, 582 P.2d 1074 (1978). Based upon the failure of Respondent to prevail upon his main theory of Accord and Satisfaction, the Court should have granted Summary Judgment to the Appellant, declaring the Respondent owed the unpaid balance of the contract.

However, in it's Memorandum Decision of November 18, 2008, the court relies exclusively upon the Affidavit of David Orr for it's decision, and completely fails to address the Affidavit of Thomas O'Dell, flatly denying he personally received check No. 469 from David W. Orr, listing a "Final Payment" See p. 180, Affidavit of Thomas O'Dell, and any awareness of and contract modification.

Appellant in it's motion for Summary Judgment of June 30<sup>th</sup>, 2008 mainly focused on Respondent's theory of Accord and Satisfaction, as no alternative theory had yet emerged from Respondent's pleadings. Then the Statute of Frauds Issue was argued again in the Appellant's Responsive Memorandum Supporting Motion for Summary Judgment Opposing Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment. CRA, p. 185.

# II. DO SUFFICIENT FACTS EXIST FOR WHICH A REASONABLE JURY COULD FIND BY A PREPONDERANCE OF THE EVIDENCE, THAT THERE WAS A COURSE OF PERFORMANCE EXCEPTION TO THE STATUTE OF FRAUDS?

The district Court, however, has never properly address the Statute of Frauds. It is clear, however, this case is governed by the Statute of Frauds, as a \$130,000 modification has been asserted by the Respondent. The statute merely requires that a Contract for the Sale of Goods over \$500.00 must be in writing to be enforceable, by way of action or defense, unless signed by the party against whom enforcement is sought.

Idaho Code Section 28-2-201. FORMAL REQUIREMENTS- STATUTE OF FRAUDS. Except as otherwise provided in this section a contract for the sale of goods for the price of \$500.00 or more is not

APPLE'S MOBILE CATERING, LLC v. THOMAS O'DELL-APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF 10

enforceable by way of action or defense unless there is some writing sufficient to indicate that a contract for sale has been made between the parties and signed by the party against whom enforcement is sought or by his authorized agent or broker.

It is apparent from the early development in this case that Respondent was aware of this requirement, and sought to remedy it with an Accord and Satisfaction, that they knowingly attempted this as a remedy. See Respondent's Plaintiff's Memorandum in Support of Its Motions For Summary Judgment, CRA 105, footnote one. On this point, there is an obvious factual dispute, as the Respondent argues and admits he made some payments by "direct deposit to the Defendant's bank account...gave Apples his account number and Mr. Orr would at times go to a branch of Defendant's bank and deposit the finds in Defendant's Account", and that his habit was to mail to Defendant by first class mail a copy of the check that Mr. Orr deposited. See CRA p. 112. citing David W. Orr Affidavit, paragraph 15.

Compare this directly with the Affidavit of Appellant Thomas O'Dell "[t]hat I am the Defendant in this matter, but that Plaintiff's assertion in section (7) of the complaint is totally false and without merit, in that I never saw, nor personally received check No. 469 from David W. Orr, listing a purported "Final Payment" designation for that \$15,000 check". CRA, p. 180 No summary Judgment is proper, if there is a genuine issue of material fact, so the court found an alternative theory and based it's decision upon oral modification of a written contract. But if a contract is within the statute of Frauds, there is still a APPLE'S MOBILE CATERING, LLC v. THOMAS O'DELL-APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

writing requirement for it's modification. See especially:

Note that the following code section should have routed the Court's inquiry into whether or not the contract, as modified, is within the provisions of 28-2-201. It is.

Idaho Code, Section 28-2-209. MODIFICATION, RESCISSION, AND WAIVER. (2) A signed agreement which excludes modification or rescission except by a signed writing, cannot be otherwise modified or rescinded, but except as between merchants, such a requirement on a form supplied by the merchant must be signed by the other party. (3) The requirements of the Statute of Frauds section of this chapter (section 28-2-201) must be satisfied if the contract as modified is within it's provisions. Emphasis added.

In the Court's Memorandum decision the Court also argues that Respondent's affidavit is not evidence, declining to see Respondent's "legal assertion that the written contract could not be modified orally" CRA 226, and disregards Respondent's view of the terms. The court failed to recognize there were conflicting inferences to be made from the reading and comparison of the affidavits of the parties, and left this decision to the jury. This is supported by the case law on this point at Loomis v. City of Hailey, 119 Idaho 434, 807 P.2d 1272 (1991), Bonz v. Sudweeks, 119 Idaho 539, 808 P.2d 876 (1991) and Aid Ins. Co. (Mut. Aid Ins. Co. V. Armstrong), 119 Idaho 897, 811, P.2d 507 (Ct. App. 1991).

Respondents denial of any oral modification and denial of an Accord and Satisfaction is a matter of record ignored by the District Court. If the record contains conflicting inferences or reasonable minds might reach different conclusions, a summary

judgment must be denied. <u>Loomis v. City of Hailey</u>, 119 Idaho 434, 807 P.2d 1272 (1991), supra.

This clearly means that the court may not just rely upon the affidavit of one party as Respondent's affidavit has been totally ignored by the court, especially when the lower court tried to then show a "mutual assent...implied from the parties' actions." "Even if a contract has a clause requiring modifications to be in writing, such a clause can be waived, either expressly or based upon the conduct of the parties." MEMORANDUM DECISION, CRA, 225. But this is not permitted by the law and a literal violation of the Parol Evidence Rule, below.

Idaho Code Section 28-2-202. FINAL WRITTEN EXPRESSION.-PAROLE OR EXTRINSIC EVIDENCE. Terms with respect to which the
confirmatory memoranda of the parties agree or which are
otherwise set forth in writing intended by the parties as a final
expression of their agreement with respect to such terms as are
included therein may not be contradicted by evidence of any prior
agreement or of a contemporaneous oral agreement but may be
explained or supplemented:

- (a) By course of performance, course of dealing, or usage of trade (section 28-1-303); and
- (b) By evidence of additional terms, unless the court finds the writing to have been intended also as a complete and exclusive statement of the terms of the agreement. Emphasis added.

It must be argued the court did find the writing to have been intended also as a complete and exclusive statement of the terms of the agreement, and improperly then went on to find this section somehow waived; from the courts own language, again "Even if a contract has a clause requiring modifications must be in writing, such a clause can be waived, either expressly or based

upon the conduct of the parties," and the Court looks to the Course of Performance exception to the Statue of Frauds. CRA p. 225 See also Affidavit of Thomas O'Dell, notifying the court of such a clause and referencing Defendant's Exhibit B, Orr Security Agreement.

At this point the Court should have seen it was looking to "evidence of additional terms by course of performance, prohibited by this section because the writing was intended by the parties as a complete and exclusive statement of the terms of the agreement," absolutely prohibited by Idaho Code 22-2-202 (b) [somehow neither this agreement nor the original contract has appeared in the Clerks Record on Appeal].

This argument was presented to the court again in Respondent's Motion to set aside Court's Ruling on Summary Judgment. CRA p. 230. Appellant there argued unsuccessfully that where there is conflicting evidence the court may not enter summary Judgment; in addition, the where the burden of proving the doctrine of part performance to provide an exception to the Statute of Frauds, Idaho Courts require proof by Clear and Convincing evidence. See <u>Boesiger v. Frier</u>, 85 Idaho 551, 381 P.2d 802 (1963).

At the very least the District Court should have retained the case on for Jury trial until this material fact had been decided, as this code section appears to make it mandatory the court so find, in construing the related statutes to the basic Statute of Frauds. The court completely overlooked this further APPLE'S MOBILE CATERING, LLC v. THOMAS O'DELL-APPELLANT'S OPENING

BRIEF

analysis, instead focusing on the course of performance exception at section (a). The District court should on remand clearly address this issue. It is blatantly apparent from Mr. O'Dell's affidavit that this was his intent, and to then see the lower court use the unilateral assent of merely one of the parties to show a course of performance to improperly modify a contract otherwise subject to the Statute of Fraud's requirement for a writing is unconscionable and illegal.

Note in the construction of the Statute how it compels the court to make such an inquiry, as that whole two part section may be read "[t]erms with respect to which the confirmatory memoranda of the parties agree or which are otherwise set forth in writing intended by the parties as a final expression of their agreement with respect to such terms as are included therein may not be contradicted by evidence of any prior agreement or of a contemporaneous oral agreement but may be explained or supplemented:

- (a) By course of performance, course of dealing, or usage of trade (section 28-1-303); and
- (b) By evidence of additional terms, unless the court finds the writing to have been intended also as a complete and exclusive statement of the terms of the agreement. Emphasis added.

Idaho Code 28-2-202, the Parol Evidence Rule. If in fact the court is arguing, as it appears to, that such a clause can be waived, either expressly or based upon the conduct of the parties at CRA 225 in it's Memorandum Decision, the requirements of

section b, supra, appear to prevent that here, as if... "unless the court finds the writing to have been intended also as a complete and exclusive statement of the terms of the agreement".

Finally, the court should have considered all these code sections related to this issues in making it's decision, and this one was also completely omitted from the District Court's analysis at Idaho Code Idaho Code, Section 28-2-209.

Idaho Code, Section 28-2-209.

MODIFICATION, RESCISSION, AND WAIVER. (2) A signed agreement which excludes modification or rescission except by a signed writing, cannot be otherwise modified or rescinded, but except as between merchants, such a requirement on a form supplied by the merchant must be signed by the other party. (3) The requirements of the Statute of Frauds section of this chapter (section 28-2-201) must be satisfied if the contract as modified is within it's provisions. Emphasis added.

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