Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-27-2009

Apple's Mobile Catering, LLC v. O'Dell Respondent's Brief Dckt. 36128

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. Appellants' Brief Should be Stricken and Their Appeal Denied as Their Brief Does Not Comply with the Idaho Appellate Rules.

At the outset, it is important to address the Appellants' failure to comply with the Idaho Appellate Rules. The Idaho Appellate Rules require an appellant to specifically identify the trial court's error and to set forth the evidence and legal authority supporting the appellant's argument that the trial court erred. See e.g. I.A.R. 35(a) (requires that "[the] brief of the appellant shall contain ... (3) ... [a] list of the issues presented on appeal, expressed in terms and circumstances of the case . . . [which] shall fairly state the issues presented for review [and] ... (6) ... citations to the authorities, statutes and parts of the transcript and record relied upon"); Backman v. Lawrence, 2009 Ida. LEXIS 78, 28-29 (Idaho May 12, 2009); Huff v. Singleton, 143 Idaho 498, 500, 148 P.3d, 1244, 1246 (2006); State v. Hosington, 104 Idaho 153, 159, 657 P.2d 17, 23 (1983) ("This Court has consistently followed the rule that it will not review the actions of a district court which have not been specifically assigned as error, especially where there are no authorities cited nor argument contained in the briefs upon the question"); State v. Burris, 101 Idaho 683, 684 n. 1, 619 P.2d 1136, 1137 n. 1 (1980); Smith v. State, 129 Idaho 162, 166, 922 P.2d 1088, 1092 (Ct. App. 1996); East v. West One Bank, 120 Idaho 226, 231, 815 P.2d 35, 40 (Ct. App. 1991); Drake v. Craven, 105 Idaho 734, 736, 672 P.2d 1064, 1066 (Ct. App. 1983) ("an appellant must identify specific issues to be presented on appeal and present supporting argument with citations to the authorities, statutes and parts of the transcript and record upon which he relies"). A failure to identify the alleged error or to support the alleged error with

argument and authority is deemed a waiver of the issue. See e.g. Hosington, 104 Idaho at 159, 657 P.2d at 23; Burris, 101 Idaho at 684 n. 1, 619 P.2d at 1137 n. 1; Smith, 129 Idaho at 166, 922 P.2d at 1092 (Under I.A.R. 35(a)(6), [t]he failure to support an issue with argument and authority is deemed a waiver"); East, 120 Idaho at 231, 815 P.2d at 40 (accord).

In the current action, the Appellants failed to identify any error with the trial court's finding that the parties orally modified their contract and that the parties fully performed in accordance with the oral modification. (See generally Appellants' Brief.) Additionally, the Appellants failed to bring forth any evidence to suggest that the trial court's ruling that there existed no genuine issue of material facts with regard to the parties' orally modified agreement was incorrect. (See generally id.) In failing to even raise or to support an argument that the trial court erred in holding that the uncontradicted evidence established an orally modified contract, the Appellants have waived this issue on appeal. See e.g. Hosington, 104 Idaho at 159, 657 P.2d at 23; Burris, 101 Idaho at 684 n. 1, 619 P.2d at 1137 n. 1; Smith, 129 Idaho at 166, 922 P.2d at 1092 (Under I.A.R. 35(a)(6), "[t]he failure to support an issue with argument and authority is deemed a waiver"); East, 120 Idaho at 231, 815 P.2d at 40 (accord).

Additionally, in failing to set forth a statement of facts or any facts establishing a genuine issue of material fact, the Appellants failed to comply with I.A.R. 35(a)(3)(iii). By not providing this Court with a concise statement that sets out, for example, the facts Appellants contend are disputed or contradicted, Appellants leave the Supreme Court to search the record to determine if the Appellants properly responded to Respondent's summary judgment motion with specific facts showing there is a genuine issue for trial. In doing so, the Appellants have failed to meet

their burden as prescribed by I.A.R. 35. See also Drake, 105 Idaho at 736, 672 P.2d at 1066 (Ct. App. 1983) (a general invitation for the appellate court to search the record for error is insufficient under I.A.R. 25 and will not be considered on appeal). For these reasons and due to its procedural inadequacies, the Appellants' appeal should be dismissed and denied in its entirety.

B. Standard of Review

The Idaho Supreme Court employs the same standard as the lower courts when determining whether a ruling of summary judgment was appropriate. See e.g. Montgomery v. Montgomery, __ Idaho __, 205 P.3d 650, 654 (2009). Specifically, the Idaho Supreme Court will find summary judgment proper when "the pleadings, depositions, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. See e.g. Idaho R. Civ. P. 56(c). The Court will "construe disputed facts and draw all reasonable inferences in favor of the non-moving party." See e.g. Montgomery, 205 P.3d at 654. The nonmoving party, however, "may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of that party's pleadings, but the party's response, by affidavits or . . . otherwise . . . , must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial." Idaho R. Civ. P. 56(e). "A mere scintilla of evidence or only slight doubt is not sufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact ...The nonmoving party must submit more than conclusory assertions that an issue of material fact exists to withstand summary judgment." See e.g. Mendenhall v. Aldous, 146 Idaho 434, 436, 196 P.3d 352, 354 (2008).

If there is no genuine issue of material fact, only a question of law remains, over which the Idaho Supreme Court exercises free review. *See e.g. Grover v. Wadsworth*, __ Idaho __, 205 P.3d 1196, 1199 (2009).

In the current action, the trial court correctly found that no genuine issues of material facts existed as to whether the parties orally modified their original agreements. As such, the trial court's grant of summary judgment in favor of the Respondent and its denial of Appellants' summary judgment motion was appropriate. See e.g. Idaho R. Civ. P. 56(c).

C. The Trial Court Properly Granted Summary Judgment in Favor of Respondent.

In their Appellants' Brief, the Appellants first argue that the trial court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of the Respondent because the trial court allegedly "denied" Respondent's accord and satisfaction claim. (See generally App. Br.) Such an argument is without merit for several reasons. First, the trial court did not "deny" Respondent's accord and satisfaction claim. (R. p. 224-27.) In fact, the trial court did not rule on the merits of whether an accord and satisfaction existed. (R. p. 227.) Instead, the trial court simply ruled that the existence of an accord and satisfaction was irrelevant because the crux of the parties' dispute was whether the parties orally modified their original agreements. (Id.) Presumably, because the trial court found that sufficient uncontradicted evidence existed to support a finding of a valid modified agreement, the trial court determined that it was unnecessary to address the merits of Respondent's accord and satisfaction claim.

Appellants' contention also fails because it ignores the fact that a plaintiff is entitled to contemporaneously assert and prosecute differing and alternative claims for relief. See e.g.

Idaho R. Civ. Proc. 8(a)(1) ("Relief in the alternative or of several different types may be demanded"). Pursuant to Idaho R. Civ. Proc. 8(a)(1), the Respondent was entitled to assert and did assert various causes of action, including, inter alia, accord and satisfaction, breach of contract, and declaratory relief. (See generally R. pp. 1-8.) In its motion for summary judgment, the Respondent moved the court to declare that the parties had orally modified their original agreements; the parties' acted in conformance with and performed according to the oral modification; there existed an accord which was fully satisfied; and the duplicate titles obtained by the Appellants were invalid. (See generally R. pp. 104-129.) In doing so, the Respondent acted in compliance with the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure. (Idaho R. Civ. Proc. 8(a)(1)) Because the Respondent argued, in addition to its accord and satisfaction claims, the existence a modified agreement, the trial court did not err in ruling on whether there existed undisputed facts supporting the existence of an oral modification. See e.g. Sirius LC v. Erickson, 144 Idaho 38, 43, 156 P.3d 539, 544 (2007) (a trial court has authority to rule on all issues placed before it by the parties' briefing).

Finally, while the trial court did not address the issue, there was sufficient undisputed evidence to support a finding of accord and satisfaction. An accord and satisfaction exists where "the parties knowingly and intentionally accept new obligations or a different contractual relationship." *Hoglan v. First Security Bank of Idaho, N.A.*, 120 Idaho 682, 686, 819 P.2d 100, 104 (1991). To establish an accord and satisfaction, the debtor must prove that the creditor "definitely assented to the new arrangement". *See e.g. Beard v. George*, 135 Idaho 685, 689, 23 P.3d 147, 151 (2001). Where a negotiable instrument is involved as the satisfaction, the debtor

must prove that the creditor was aware that the payment was intended to satisfy the accord. See e.g. I.C. § 28-3-310. However, satisfaction can be established without use of a negotiable instrument.

In the current action, the Respondent established all factors necessary for accord and satisfaction. First, the Respondent established, via Mr. Orr's affidavit, there was a dispute during the summer of 2002 regarding the condition of the equipment sold to Respondent. (R. pp. 66-67, ¶ 11-13.) To resolve this dispute, the parties verbally agreed to modify their original agreement by reducing the remaining loan balance to \$130,000.00 and by accelerating the loan payments. (R. pp. 66-67, ¶ 13.) The parties also agreed that Respondent would make loan payments whenever such were requested by the Appellants. (Id.) Notably, Appellants do not contest Mr. Orr's testimony. (See generally R. pp. 35-42, 180-193, 226.) The Appellants not only failed to bring forth any testimony to the contrary, but they also failed to even argue that such an agreement was not reached. (See generally id.) Because Mr. Orr's testimony establishes that "the parties knowingly and intentionally accept[ed] new obligations or a different contractual relationship", an accord existed between the parties. (See generally R. pp. 62-72.)

Likewise, the Appellants' conduct bars them from arguing that the accord was satisfied without their knowledge. The undisputed evidence proves Respondent paid Appellants \$130,000.00 from August 2002 until June 2003.³ (R. p. 67, ¶ 14.) Likewise, the undisputed evidence establishes that the Appellants were aware that Respondent's June 2003 \$15,000.00 payment was a final payment and was intended to satisfy Respondent's payment obligations to

³ Importantly, Appellants do not dispute receiving such amounts.

the Appellants. In fact, the undisputed testimony establishes that the Appellants expressly requested this payment from the Respondent as the "final payment". (R. pp. 68-69, ¶ 18; R. 76, ¶ 11.) Specifically, both David Orr and Donald W. Cain, an agent of the Appellants, testified, in June 2003, the Appellants contacted Mr. Cain so that Mr. Cain would request the final payment from Respondent. (*Id.*) In making this request upon Mr. Cain, the Appellants explicitly stated that, after Respondent made this June 2003 payment, the debt would be paid in full. (*Id.*) Importantly, the Appellants do not deny having such a conversation with Mr. Cain. (*See generally* R. pp. 35-42, 180-193, 226.) They also do not deny asking Mr. Cain to obtain the June 2003 payment from Respondent or informing Mr. Cain that the June 2003 payment would fully satisfy the Respondent's debt. (*See generally id.*)

Due to the Appellants' conversations with Mr. Cain and because of the fact that Mr. Cain, acting as the Appellants' agent, informed the Respondent that the June 2003 payment would satisfy the debt, any argument that the Appellants were unaware that the June 2003 payment was intended to satisfy the Respondent's debt is disingenuous, at best. (See R. pp. 68-69, ¶ 18; R. 76, ¶ 11.) In fact, because (1) Respondent made the June 2003 payment pursuant to Appellants' request which also involved the explicit representation, by Appellants' agent, that such payment would satisfy the debt and (2) Appellants have failed to contradict Mr. Cain's or Mr. Orr's testimony as to such matters, the Appellants are barred from arguing that they were unaware that the June 2003 payment was intended to satisfy the debt and that there existed an accord and satisfaction.

Likewise, even if the Court finds insufficient evidence to establish that the Appellants represented the June 2003 payment was a "satisfaction", Appellants are still barred from denying the existence of accord and satisfaction. While the Appellants repeatedly deny receiving the June 2003 check from Respondent, the Appellants have failed to contradict Mr. Orr's testimony that he mailed the Appellants a copy of the check with a letter stating that the check was intended as full satisfaction of Respondent's debt to Appellants. (*See generally* R. pp. 35-42, 180-193, 226; R. p. 69, ¶¶ 20-21.) Mr. Orr testified that he did, in fact, mail the letter to the Appellants. (R. p. 69, ¶¶ 20.) The Appellants had not contradicted this testimony and have not even testified that they did not receive the letter. 4 (*See generally* R. pp. 35-42, 180-193.) As such, the Appellants are barred from now arguing that they did not receive the letter. Similarly, the Appellants are barred from arguing that the letter did not fully inform them that the Respondent intended for the June 2003 payment to satisfy its debt.

In failing to bring forth testimony rebutting or contradicting that of Mr. Orr or Mr. Cain, the Appellants failed to create a genuine issue of material fact as to the existence of an accord and satisfaction. Accordingly, the evidence presented by Respondent is undisputed and this undisputed evidence is sufficient to establish the existence of an accord and satisfaction.

⁴ The Appellants did not even address the letter in the trial court below. (See generally R. pp. 35-42, 180-193.) For the first time on appeal, the Appellants' counsel attempts to have this Court consider his statement that the letter was mailed to the incorrect address. (App. Br., p. 18.) However, such a statement by Appellants' counsel is inadmissible and cannot be considered by this Court on appeal.

D. The Uncontradicted Evidence Establishes A Valid Modified Agreement.

Contrary to the Appellants' arguments, there exists no genuine issue of material fact regarding whether the parties orally modified their earlier agreements and whether the parties fully performed according to their oral modification.

An oral modification of an agreement is sufficient where a party establishes, by clear and convincing evidence, that the parties agreed to the material terms of the oral modification. *See e.g. Scott v. Castle*, 104 Idaho 719, 724, 662 P.2d 1163, 1168 (1983). "The fact of agreement may [also] be implied from a course of conduct in accordance with its existence and assent may be implied from the acts of one party in accordance with the terms of the change proposed by the other." *See e.g. id.* (internal citations omitted).

In the current action, as was explained above, the undisputed evidence establishes the existence of an express and implied oral modification to the parties' original agreements. First, the evidence contains the uncontradicted testimony of Mr. Orr that, in order to resolve a dispute regarding the condition of the equipment at issue in the Asset Purchase Agreement, the parties agreed to modify their original agreements by reducing the remaining loan balance to \$130,000.00 and by accelerating the loan payments. (R. p. 66-67, ¶ 13.) The parties also agreed that the Respondent would make loan payments whenever such were requested by the Appellants and that the Respondent would waive any claims it had against Appellants, including a potential breach of contract claim. (*Id.*) As was identified by the trial court, the Appellants never contradicted or even disagreed with Mr. Orr's testimony. (R. p. 226.) As such there is no

genuine issue of material fact with regard to the existence of an oral modification and there exists clear and convincing evidence of an express oral modification to the parties' original agreements.

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